
Minutes 
Work Session 

Aberdeen Board of Commissioners 

October 29, 2009                 Aberdeen Town Hall 
Thursday, 5:30 p.m.                    Aberdeen, North Carolina 
 

The Aberdeen  Town  Board met  on Thursday, October  29,  2009  at  5:30  p.m.  for  their 
regular  Work  Session.    Members  present  were  Mayor  Elizabeth  B.  Mofield,  Mayor  Pro‐tem 
Robbie Farrell and Commissioners Jim Thomas, Donna Shannon, Pat Ann McMurray and Walter 
Wright.  Other  staff  members  in  attendance  were  Town Manager  Bill  Zell,  Planning  Director 
Kathy Liles, Fire Chief Phillip Richardson, Public Works Director Rickie Monroe, and Town Clerk 
Regina  Rosy.    Others  in  attendance  were  Maurice  Holland,  Alan  Parker,  Joe  Ussery,  Janet 
Kenworthy, Robert Brunke, and Reporter for the Pilot Hannah Sharpe.   
 
  Mayor Mofield called the Work Session to order.  
 
1.  Discussion on Fire Dept. Expansion Project. 

    Manager Zell wanted the Board to see this proposal for architectural services to  
complete  the  Fire  Department  expansion  project.    Manager  Zell  stated  construction 
costs are really down right now due to the economy.  He stated now might be a good 
time  to  complete  the  Fire Department  expansion project while  construction  costs  are 
low.   Manager Zell stated plans could be drawn up within 90 days, and bids would be 
out for 30 days.  Therefore, Manager Zell stated the project would be at least 120 days 
out.   Mayor Mofield  stated  she  really  does  not  like  the  design  of  the  expanded  Fire 
Dept.  Fire Chief Richardson explained he has already had the architect change some of 
the design since  the Board previously saw the plans.   Fire Chief Richardson  stated  the 
Board  would  have  the  authority  to  approve  or  disapprove  the  plans  once  they  are 
complete.  Manager Zell stated he thinks the plans are very good and keep from tearing 
up  the property.    Commissioner McMurray  agreed with Mayor Mofield  that  she does 
not like the original plans.  Mayor Mofield stated she would like for the Board to go over 
to  the  Fire  Department  and  see  what  all  is  included  in  these  plans.    Commissioner 
Thomas pointed out the retainer fee was $3400 and it will cost approximately $10,000 
to do the design phase of the architectural design.  Mayor Mofield requested a Special 
Called Meeting be scheduled to go to the Fire Department on Saturday, November 7 th at 
9:00 a.m. to discuss plans for the Fire Department expansion project. 

2.  Discussion on Curbside Recycling. 

  Public Works Director Monroe stated he had prepared some information for the 
Board  to  review  concerning  curbside  recycling.    Commissioner  Thomas  stated  in 
Cumberland County, collectors are held responsible for banned items at the landfill and 



have to pay a fine of $600 each time the items are not properly recycled.  Commissioner 
Thomas asked why the Town couldn’t use the small containers rather than the large roll‐
out  containers.   Manager Zell  stated  the  small  containers would not be  large enough.  
Mayor Mofield and Commissioner Wright both stated they are all for curbside recycling.  
Public Works Director Monroe stated the Board needs to decide what to do –  he stated 
he would  need  2700  containers  to  get  started.   With  curbside  garbage  collection  the 
Town only received 500 containers at a time.  Public Works Director Monroe stated the 
containers cost $49 a piece which would be a 95‐gallon roll out container.   The Board 
agreed to mandate recycling for all Aberdeen citizens.  Commissioner Wright stated we 
could  refuse  to  pick  up  garbage  unless  the  household  also  recycles.    Commissioner 
Wright asked why homeowners could not choose between a 65‐gallon container and a 
95‐gallon container.  Public Works Director Monroe stated in order to qualify for grant 
money,  95‐gallon  containers  would  have  to  be  purchased.    Public  Works  Director 
Monroe suggested doing this program over a 3‐year period and buying 900 containers 
once a year  for 3 years.   Mayor Pro‐tem Farrell was  concerned about  the households 
who do not  recycle and do not get a  recycling container.   Mayor Mofield  suggested a 
mailing  be  sent  out  to  inform  residents  of  the  recycling  program  and  to  encourage 
residents to get recycling containers to start curbside recycling.  Public Works Director 
Monroe  asked  what  color  recycling  container  the  Board  would  like  to  have.    Mayor 
Mofield stated she likes tan or brown for the color.  Commissioner Shannon said as long 
as the color was not orange she was fine with anything.  The Board decided Town brown 
would  be  the  color  for  the  recycling  containers.    The  Board  directed  Public  Works 
Director Monroe to apply for the grant, get a letter out to residents, and begin recycling 
pick up every other Wednesday after the first of the year. 
 
  Commissioner Wright requested that a statement be put on recycling containers 
that  states  residents have  to  bring  their  container  back  to  the house within 24 hours 
after  pickup.    Mayor  Mofield  stated  she  would  like  a  garbage  container  downtown 
where her business is.  She stated she is paying for garbage pickup and is not getting it. 
 
  Public Works Director Monroe stated he would keep open the current recycling 
area at Public Works.  Mayor Mofield suggested putting up a fence around the recycling 
center.   
 
  A  motion  was  made  by  Commissioner  Wright,  seconded  by  Commissioner 
Shannon, to give Manager Zell and Public Works Director Monroe the authority to apply 
for the grant and start the curbside recycling process.  Motion unanimously carried. 

 
3.  Discussion on Easement Problems with Town of Aberdeen Forest Hills Sewer Project. 

  Public Works Director Monroe  stated he  is having problems getting easements 
to do the Forest Hills Sewer Project.  He stated he sent out 13 requests – one lady called 
and gave him a piece of her mind.  He stated there were no responses from any others.  
Public Works Director Monroe  stated  in  the past  there was no problem getting  these 
easements.  Public Works Director Monroe believes things are different in this time and 
place.   Public Works Director Monroe stated some people  just do not want  to give up 



their  land  for  this  project.    Commissioner  Wright  asked  wasn’t  there  a  legal  way  to 
handle this situation.  Manager Zell stated yes, there is – that is what they are asking the 
Board.  Public Works Director Monroe stated he never remembers having to do this in 
the  past.    Commissioner  Shannon  asked  how many  properties  are  involved  with  this 
easement.   Public Works Director Monroe stated there are 13 properties involved with 
the  easement  problem.    Public  Works  Director  Monroe  stated  he  would  prefer 
redesigning the project rather than just taking the property.   Mayor Mofield preferred 
making eminent domain a last resort.  Commissioner Wright suggested having Attorney 
T.C. Morphis go ahead and get a legal write up just in case we need it.  Mayor Mofield 
thought there was no reason to involve the attorney at this point.   

4.  Legacy Lakes Conditional Use Permit Minor Modification.   

  Planning Director Liles stated Forest City (Legacy Lakes) has filed a request for a 
minor  modification  of  CU#07‐04  to  allow  for  setbacks  on  recombined  lots  to  be 
consistent with setbacks designated for the lot size before recombination. 

  Planning Director  Liles  stated a  couple of work  sessions  ago a  similar  situation 
occurred.  Forest City has asked for an administrative approval of a minor modification 
to  allow  the  recombined  lots  to  use  the  same  setbacks  to  ensure  a  consistent  front 
setback  and  to  maintain  the  overall  aesthetics.    Planning  Director  Liles  stated  staff 
considers this request  to be a minor modification of Conditional Use Permit CU#07‐04 
and  seeks  Board  concurrence  that  this  item  not  be  considered  a  major  modification 
requiring a new Public Hearing and Board approval.   

  A  motion  was  made  by  Commissioner  Thomas,  seconded  by  Commissioner 
Wright,  that  the  requested  action  constitutes  a  minor  modification  and  allow  the 
Planning  Director  to  process  the  proposed  revision  under  administrative  approval.  
Motion unanimously carried.   

5.  Habitat for Humanity.  

  a.  Application for Rezoning RZ#09‐03.   

  Planning Director Liles stated  this  item was before the Board at the  last 
work session.  After much discussion R‐15 was found to be a compromise for the 
situation.    Robert  Brunke  with  Habitat  for  Humanity  explained  30+  lots  were 
reduced to 25 lots in order to meet the R‐15 zoning.  Mr. Brunke stated this will 
bump up the price for homeowners about $7000 due to the  larger houses that 
would have to be put on the lots.  Planning Director Liles stated this new design 
will  line up  the property with Bronwyn St.   Commissioner Wright  asked where 
water will  be drained  to.   Mr. Brunke  explained  it will be drained  towards  the 
creek which bumps up  to  the  railroad  tracks.   Mayor Mofield asked how many 



different style houses will be  in this project.   Mr. Brunke stated there will be a 
minimum of 8 different houses in this development.  He stated there will not be 
a cookie cutter look to the development.  It will be a craftsman’s style look to the 
development.  Mayor Mofield asked where homeowners would be pooled from.  
Mr.  Brunke  stated  potential  homeowners  would  come  from  Moore  County 
would  be  the  only  requirement.    Planning  Director  Liles  stated  Habitat  had 
completed  another  public  meeting  with  the  residents  in  the  area.    Maurice 
Holland  stated  all  conflicts  were  discussed  during  the meeting  –  and  the  only 
objection at  the end of meeting was  that  some of  the property be  left vacant.  
Mr. Holland  felt  a nice  compromise was  reached with  the Town Board  for  the 
zoning of this property.  Mr. Holland stated all residents want a safe productive 
family‐oriented neighborhood – and feel tickled to death with this project.  Mr. 
Holland  stated  several  residents  are  planning  to  apply  for  Habitat  housing.  
Mayor  Mofield  stated  she  would  like  to  fill  all  25  houses  with  Aberdeen 
residents.  Mr. Brunke stated all they have to do is go down to the Habitat office 
and apply.   

  Mr.  Holland wanted  houses  taken  down without  liens  being  placed  on 
the properties.  The Board felt the liens would not be a problem and authorized 
Planning Director Liles to move forward with taking the houses down and placing 
liens on the properties.   Agenda Item as  Public Hearing on November 9, 2009. 

  b.  Request for Special Called Meeting to be scheduled to consider approval of  
      Application for Rezoning RZ#09‐03 and discuss UDO.   

  Planning Director Liles stated Elizabeth Cox has to have  in  the grant  for 
the  funding  by  November  23,  2009.    Because  of  the  tight  timeline,  Planning 
Director Liles stated a Special Called Meeting would need to be scheduled.  The 
Board agreed to hold a Special Called Meeting on Monday, November 16, 2009 
at 5:30 p.m. to vote on the Habitat rezoning and discuss the UDO. 

  c.  CDBG Public Hearing – Habitat Housing Development Grant.   

  Planning Director  Liles  stated  Habitat  for  Humanity  is  in  the  process  of 
seeking rezoning and subdivision approval for Midway Gardens located south of 
Bronwyn Street and north of Midway Road.   Approvals have yet  to be granted 
for  this  project  to  move  forward,  but  the  CDBG  grant  cycle  for  Housing 
Development will close at the end of December.  Habitat proposes to use CDBG 
funds  to  construct  some  of  the  homes  if  the  project  is  approved.    Planning 
Director  Liles  stated prior  to  submittal of  a CDBG grant  application,  two public 
hearings would to be held.   Planning Director Liles stated  the first hearing may 
be generic and basically puts the public on notice that the Town may submit for 



any  of  the  CDBG  grant  cycles  in  the  upcoming  year  such  as  scattered  site 
housing,  infrastructure,  community  revitalization,  and  economic  development.  
Planning Director Liles stated the second public hearing must be more specific to 
the  actual  type  of  grant  to be  submitted  and  includes  a  resolution authorizing 
the Mayor  or  the Town Manager  to  sign off  on  the  grant  submittal.    Planning 
Director  Liles  stated  staff  requests  for  a  public  hearing  to  be  scheduled  for 
November 9, 2009.  Agenda Item as Public Hearing on November 9, 2009. 

6.  Discussion on Kennel Text Amendment.   

  Planning Director  Liles  stated Mayor  Pro‐tem  Farrell,  Commissioner McMurray 
and Manager  Zell  went  to  K‐2  site  to  see  how  the  operation worked.    Commissioner 
McMurray  stated  she was  very  impressed with  the  temporary  facility.    Commissioner 
McMurray  stated  two  attendants  were  right  on  top  of  everything.    Commissioner 
McMurray stated the dogs were marvelous and responded well to hand signals.  Mayor 
Pro‐tem FArrell stated Lane Kjellson with K2 Solutions has 40 employees – Mayor Pro‐
tem  Farrell  felt  that  would  be  something  to  look  at  for  bringing  jobs  to  Aberdeen.  
Mayor  Pro‐tem  Farrell  stated  employees  had  relocated  to  work  for  K2  Solutions.  
Manager  Zell  stated  the  whole  outfit  was  very  professional.    Mayor  Pro‐tem  Farrell 
agreed it was very well run and a very professional organization.  Mayor Pro‐tem Farrell 
stated  there were people  living  in homes right up next door  to  the operation.   Mayor 
Mofield asked Manager Zell  if had contacted Scotland County.  Manager Zell stated he 
was  not  able  to  get  up  with  Scotland  County.    Planning  Director  Liles  stated  she 
researched  and  did  not  find  any  complaints  with  Animal  Control  or  Humane  Society.  
Commissioner Thomas stated he has no problem with any of  the  language  in  the text 
amendment  that  was  drafted.    Planning  Director  Liles  stated  she  had  added  in  some 
fencing language in order for a fence to be required for this business to take place.  The 
Board  agreed  the  fencing  language  was  a  good  condition  to  add  in.  Mayor  Mofield 
suggested the kennels be required to be 200 feet from the property line rather than just 
100  feet.    Commissioner  Shannon  stated  her  concern  was  the  combat  dog  training 
within the city  limits of Aberdeen.   Commissioner Shannon was concerned this kennel 
could negatively impact surrounding properties for future development.   

  Commissioner Shannon felt perhaps kennels and explosives should be addressed 
as two separate text amendments.  Alan Parker pointed out that right now there are no 
restrictions in the Town’s Ordinance regarding explosives.   

  Commissioner  Thomas  felt  it was  better  to  put  the  explosives  language  in  the 
zoning to have more control, rather than do a conditional use.   Mayor Mofield agreed 
with  Commissioner  Shannon  –  there  should  be  two  separate  text  amendments.  
Planning  Director  Liles  stated  a  definition  could  be  added  in  for  specialized  training.  
Commissioner Wright  suggested  changing  the  title  to  specialized  dog  training  facility.  



Kennels and explosives would both need to be separate sections with specific definitions 
of each.   Planning Director Liles stated she would make changes and send back to the 
Planning Board for review.   

7.  Petition for Voluntary Annexation for Academy of Moore.   

  Planning Director  Liles  stated  the Academy of Moore had previously agreed  to 
voluntarily  annex  into  the  Town  if  they  were  provided  Town  services,  which  have 
already been provided.   Planning Director Liles stated  this  item will be added   as New 
Business for November 9, 2009:  Resolution Directing the Clerk to Investigate a Petition 
Received under G.S. 160A‐31 & Resolution Fixing Date of Public Hearing for December 
14, 2009. Mayor Pro‐tem Farrell asked how many acres this property was.  Manager Zell 
stated  it  is  18  acres.    A  motion  was  made  by  Mayor  Pro‐tem  Farrell,  seconded  by 
Commissioner Thomas, to accept the petition for voluntary annexation for the Academy 
of Moore.  Motion unanimously carried.  Agenda Item as New Business. 

8.  Variance Text Amendment to Address Staff Errors.   

  Planning  Director  Liles  explained  this  situation  had  happened  with  Aberdeen 
First Baptist, and now again with Lighthorse Trace.   Planning Director Liles stated staff 
had coordinated with the Brough Law Firm to bring  language to the Board  that would 
allow for the Board of Adjustment to issue a variance in the event of an error by staff or 
the applicant’s engineer or architect.  Planning Director Liles stated during Work Session 
discussion, the Board was not interested in approving language that accommodated an 
error  by  the  architect  or  engineer  so  the  proposed  language  had  been  modified  to 
accommodate  staff errors only.   Planning Director  Liles  stated  the Brough Law Firm  is 
suggesting the Board consider this text amendment as a potential means of addressing 
situations  such  as  the  perimeter  buffer  at  Lighthorse  Trace.    Agenda  Item  as  New 
Business. 

9.  Resolution to Submit a Pedestrian Planning Grant.   

  Planning Director Liles stated the North Carolina Department of Transportation 
has announced the availability of bicycle and pedestrian planning grants.  Planning 
Director Liles stated a committee would have to be formed to work on this grant and a 
layout would have to be developed.  Planning Director Liles stated last year the Town 
was not awarded this grant– but now we could apply again.  Planning Director Liles 
stated the Board has to approve the Resolution to Submit a Pedestrian Planning Grant 
to give the Town authorization to apply for this grant.  Agenda Item as New Business. 

 

 



10.  Discussion on TA#09‐01:  Amendment to the Downtown Retail Overlay District.     

  Planning Director Liles stated this text amendment would allow for assembly and 
entertainment  purposes  in  the  back  of  a  building.    Planning  Director  Liles  stated  the 
Planning Board felt issue of entertainment should be addressed.  The Planning Board did 
not feel this issue was ready to be voted on, therefore they were sending it back to the 
Town Board.  Planning Director Liles stated the options are to summarily dismiss, move 
to public hearing and take input from citizens, or remand back to Planning Board with 
direction on what to do.  Mayor Mofield asked what our ordinance says now.  Planning 
Director Liles stated the DROD says the purpose is to preserve a core of central business 
district . . . while promoting sufficient amount of space and  . . . Janet Kenworthy stated 
she is requesting to have cultural entertainment in the rear of her property.  She stated 
she  has  brought  over  10,000  people  to  the  downtown  Aberdeen  area  in  the  past  3 
years.  She feels she has brought a lot to the downtown Aberdeen area.  Commissioner 
Wright stated his thought would be to summarily dismiss this text amendment.    Janet 
Kenworthy stated she is asking to have some language for a cultural center in the DROD 
area.  Mayor Pro‐tem Farrell stated the Board needs to be wary about making a change 
like that.  Planning Director Liles mentioned another alternative to the problem – modify 
definition in general code of ordinances for special events.  Janet Kenworthy stated she 
has supported many programs within Aberdeen.  She stated she came into the Planning 
Department  and  talked  to  staff  before  purchasing  the  property  she  currently  owns.  
Janet Kenworthy stated the Town gives a contribution to Rooster’s Wife – to operate at 
Postmaster’s  House  which  is  apparently  not  lawful  according  to  the  ordinance.  
Commissioner Wright made a motion to summarily dismiss.  Manager Zell suggested the 
concert  series  be  held  at  the  Aberdeen  Lake  Park.    Commissioner  Thomas  stated  he 
does not understand why  the back part of  the building  could not be used  for  cultural 
entertainment.  Commissioner McMurray stated the problem is the Town has no control 
over  what  type  of  entertainment  occurs.    Mayor  Mofield  stated  Janet’s  music  has 
brought many people  to  the  downtown  area which  helps  local  businesses.    A motion 
was  made  by  Commissioner  McMurray,  seconded  by  Commissioner  Wright  to 
summarily  dismiss  TA#09‐01.    Commissioner  Shannon  stated  she  doesn’t  understand 
why this is opening a can of worms if the Town specifies a definition for cultural events.  
Mayor Mofield stated she thinks the Board is making a mistake by declining this request.  
Mayor Mofield  felt  there  could  be  a  compromise  reached  for  both  the  Town  and  for 
Janet Kenworthy.  Commissioner Shannon was concerned over how quick the Board was 
ready to decline this request.  Commissioner Wright stated the Board has discussed this 
issue for over 10 years.  Motion carried, with Mayor Pro‐tem Farrell voting to summarily 
dismiss the item too, but Commissioner Shannon and Commissioner Thomas voting no.   

 



11.  Discussion with Joe Ussery about Cell Phone Towers and Storage Buildings. 

  Joe Ussery stated he owns the 35‐acre piece of property that used to be the old 
maintenance building  for  the Town.   He  stated an opportunity  for  a  cell phone  tower 
has  come  to him.   He  stated  the  tower would be  about 100  feet  –  250  feet  tall. Mr. 
Ussery stated the area is behind the highway patrol station.  Mr. Ussery stated he wants 
to see if  the Board is even willing to accept this  idea before he submits an application 
for a cell phone tower.  Planning Director Liles stated part of the property is zoned HC 
and  the  other  part  is  zoned  Residential.   Mr. Ussery  stated  all  the  property  is  pretty 
much wetlands.  Planning Director Liles stated telecommunication towers could only be 
located on governmental property unless they are co‐located on church steeples, tanks, 
etc.  Mr. Ussery stated that is understandable – now he has another issue.  Mr. Ussery 
stated he has 80 storage units – he stated  there are never more than 3 people at the 
warehouses at one time.  His idea was to renovate the old cinema theater and use it for 
indoor storage.  He asked the Board to consider the idea and think about it.   

12.  Dedication of Rotunda and Town Hall.   

  Manager Zell stated he is bringing this item back to the Board.  He stated if the 
Board wishes to draft proclamations to dedicate the Town Hall and the Rotunda, then 
the Board will need to provide some guidance for the language in the proclamations.  
Mayor Mofield stated she would work on the language for the proclamations.   

13.  Resolution for Sidewalk Enhancement Projects.   

  Planning Director Liles stated attached  for  the Board’s consideration  is a  list of 
sidewalk enhancements and a Resolution of Support for these enhancements.  Planning 
Director  Liles  stated  earlier  this  fall,  TARPO  Director  Paul  Black  directed  Technical 
Coordinating  Committee  members  to  submit  a  list  of  enhancement  projects  for 
inclusion on a “wish  list”  for NCDOT.   Planning Director Liles stated staff prepared the 
attached  wish  list  of  sidewalk  projects.    Paul  Black  then  asked  that  local  points  be 
assigned to each project based on a short list of criteria.  With input from Public Works 
Director Rickie Monroe, the points were assigned as shown.    In order to maximize the 
points  and  attempt  to  move  the  projects  up  into  the  top  25%  of  submittals,  staff 
included an extra point  for each project  for a resolution of support  from the Board of 
Commissioners.  Planning Director Liles stated the  resolution will need to be approved 
by the Board in order to “earn” this point.  Agenda Item as New Business. 

14.  Discussion on Settlement received from Van Camp, Meacham & Newman. 

  Manager Zell  felt  it would be crazy  to bring  the attorney here when the Board 
has  already  stated  their  position  on  this  case.    A motion was made by  Commissioner 
McMurray,  seconded  by  Commissioner  Shannon,  to  reject  the  settlement  offer 



presented by Van Camp, Meacham & Newman.  Planning Director Liles stated the only 
difference  in  this settlement offer  is  the $100,000 for confession of  judgment.   Mayor 
Mofield  stated  the  Board  has  already  stated  their  position  on  this  issue.    Motion 
unanimously carried. 

  Commissioner Walter stated something needs to be done over at Ray’s Mill Pond 
before  things  deteriorate.    Commissioner  Wright  suggested  giving  Manager  Zell 
authority  to  do  necessary  maintenance    as  far  as  windows  being  replaced,  floor 
replaced,  etc.    The  Board  agreed  to  give  Manager  Zell  the  authority  to  conduct 
necessary maintenance at Ray’s Mill Pond. 

  Commissioner  McMurray  asked  whatever  happened  with  the  Liberty  Tree 
Memorial Program.  Manager Zell stated he would look into it.   

  Mayor Pro‐tem Farrell encouraged everyone to vote on Election Day.   

15.  Adjournment 

          With  no  further  items  for  discussion  or  review,  a  motion  was  made  by 
Commissioner Wright, seconded by Mayor Pro‐tem Farrell, to adjourn the Work Session.  
Motion unanimously carried. 

 

______________________________     _________________________________ 
Regina M. Rosy, Town Clerk        Elizabeth B. Mofield, Mayor 

Minutes were completed in         Minutes were adopted  
Draft form on October 30, 2009      November 9, 2009 

 


